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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA
WESTERN DIVISION

RYAN WHITE and JESSICA WHITE,
Case No. _ 23-5072

Plaintiffs,
V. COMPLAINT
RETSEL CORPORATION, d/b/a
GRAND GATEWAY HOTEL and d/b/a
CHEERS SPORTS LOUNGE AND
CASINO,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

1. This lawsuit arises out of the explicit racial discrimination by Defendant
Retsel Corporation d/b/a Grand Gateway Hotel (“Grand Gateway”).

2. On August 13, 2023, Grand Gateway discriminated against Jessica and
Ryan White (the “White family”) on the basis of race in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

3. Grand Gateway’s intentional racial discrimination against the White
family is part of a policy, pattern, or practice of intentional and illegal racial
discrimination against Native Americans.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343 because this complaint involves a claim to recover damages for the

protection of civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, which provides for redress when the
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right to make or enforce a contract is interfered with on the basis of racial
discrimination or animus, and 42 U.S.C. § 1988, which authorizes the recovery of
attorneys’ fees.

5. The White family’s claim for declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C.
§§ 2201 et seq., Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the general
legal and equitable powers of this Court.

6. Venue is appropriate under 28 U.S.C § 1391(b) because a substantial part
of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims in this suit occurred in the District of
South Dakota and Grand Gateway resides and is located in this judicial district.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Ryan White is an individual residing in Lac du Flambeau,
Wisconsin. He is married to Jessica White. Ryan White is Native American and a
member of a protected class.

8. Plaintiff Jessica White is an individual residing in Lac du Flambeau,
Wisconsin. She is married to Ryan White. Jessica White is not a member of a racially
protected class.

9. Defendant Retsel Corporation is a South Dakota corporation. Retsel
Corporation does business as the Grand Gateway Hotel. Grand Gateway is located at
1721 N. Lacrosse Street, Rapid City, South Dakota.

10.  Grand Gateway is vicariously liable for the actions of the employees,

owners, managers, directors, and other agents of the corporation.
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11. Grand Gateway is open to the public and offers services as a public
accommodation.
ADDITIONAL FACUTAL ALLEGATIONS
L. Grand Gateway has a history of discrimination against Native Americans.
12. In a social media post from approximately March 20, 2022, Connie Uhre
stated that she was banning Native Americans from the Grand Gateway Hotel and from
Cheers Bar and also offered a “very special rate” to ranchers and travelers —
presumably, only non-Native ranchers and travelers:
m Connie Uhre
- Do to the killing that took place at

the Grand Gateway Hotel on March

19 2022 at 4 am plus all the

vandalism we have had since the

Mayor and Police Department are

working with the non profit

organization ( Dark Money) . We will

no long allow any Native American

on property. Or in Cheers Sports

Bar. Natives killing Natives. Rancher

and Travelers will receive a very

special rate of 59.00 a night. Book
Direct.

1d Like Reply

13.  Nick Uhre also started an email chain among other local hospitality
management. On information and belief, Connie Uhre sent an email as part of that
chain on or around March 20, 2022, in which she stated, “I really do not want to allow
Natives on property. Every time we have problems I call the police with it, the first
thing they ask is what nationality is he or she and 98% of the time I have to say native

[sic], and we call at least once a week. they [sic] kill each other walk around with

3
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guns . . . The problem is we do not know the nice ones from the bad natives . . . so we
just have to say no to them!!”1

14.  Grand Gateway has been sued before for alleged discrimination against
Native Americans.

15.  Grand Gateway knew that discrimination against Native Americans is
against the law.

16.  Grand Gateway’s prior conduct demonstrates that any alleged non-
discriminatory reason to exclude Native Americans is pretext for racial discrimination.

IL. Grand Gateway discriminated against the White family by refusing to honor
the White family’s reservation because Mr. White is Native American.

17.  The White family traveled from Wisconsin to South Dakota for a family
vacation. The White family reserved three rooms for one night at the Grand Gateway
online through the website Travelocity. Jessica and Ryan White were traveling with
Ryan’s three children (who are Jessica’s step-children), Ryan White’s mother, and Ryan
White’s aunt. At the time they reserved the rooms, the White family was unaware of
Grand Gateway’s history of racial discrimination.

18.  After driving all day, the White family arrived at the Grand Gateway at

approximately 10 p.m. on August 13, 2023.

1 Arielle Zionts, Workers quit, lawsuit pending after hotel owner calls for ban on Native
Americans, SDPB, March 22, 2022, available at https:/ /listen.sdpb.org/business-
economics/2022-03-22 / workers-quit-lawsuit-pending-after-hotel-owner-calls-for-ban-
on-native-americans (last accessed September 21, 2023); see also KOTA Staff, Rapid City
hotel purportedly bans Native Americans from its property, KOTA, March 21, 2022, available
at https:/ /www .kotatv.com/2022/03/22/rapid-city-hotel-purportedly-bans-native-
americans-its-property/ (last accessed September 21, 2023).
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19.  When they arrived, Ryan White parked the family’s vehicle while Jessica
White —who is not Native American—entered the hotel to check in.

20.  Oninformation and belief, Grand Gateway’s manager and owner Nick
Uhre was working at the desk and interacted with Jessica White when she attempted to
check into the Grand Gateway.?

21.  Jessica White began the check-in process without any issue.

22.  After parking the family’ car, Ryan White entered the Grand Gateway.
The Grand Gateway employee stopped processing the White family’s reservation and
abruptly told the Whites that they did not have any rooms reserved at the hotel.

23.  Jessica White attempted to provide the Grand Gateway employee with
their confirmation number from Travelocity. The Grand Gateway employee refused to
take the confirmation number, look in the hotel’s system for the reservation, or take
steps to honor the White family’s reservation.

24.  The White family contacted Travelocity from the lobby of the hotel. A
Travelocity representative confirmed that the White family had three rooms reserved at

the Grand Gateway.

2 Although the Whites do not personally know and would not recognize any member of
the Uhre family, the Grand Gateway employee at the front desk identified himself to
Jessica White as the manager of the hotel. The Whites expect that discovery will confirm
the identity of the Grand Gateway employee who confronted and discriminated against
them. Regardless, Grand Gateway is liable for the actions of its employee.

5
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25.  Travelocity called the Grand Gateway to confirm that the Whites had a
reservation at the Grand Gateway. Despite Travelocity’s confirmation that the Whites
had a reservation, the Grand Gateway employee still refused to rent rooms to them.

26.  While the Grand Gateway employee was on the phone with the
Travelocity representative, the White family heard the Grand Gateway employee tell
the Travelocity representative — who spoke with an accent — that she needed to “speak
English!” While not directed at the White family, that comment reinforced the
unmistakably racial nature of the incident.

27.  While in the lobby of the hotel, the White family checked online to see
whether the Grand Gateway had rooms available to rent. The White Family confirmed
that the Grand Gateway had rooms available to rent at that moment. Even though
rooms were available, the Grand Gateway employee refused to rent any rooms to the
White family.

28.  After the White family continued to ask the Grand Gateway to honor their
reservation, the Grand Gateway employee told Ryan White to leave the lobby. The
Grand Gateway employee then called security. The Grand Gateway employee also told
security to bring backup. The Grand Gateway employee next picked up the phone and
said he was calling dispatch. Those statements made the White family feel threatened,
intimidated, and concerned for their safety and the safety of their children. Ryan White
left the hotel.

29.  Jessica White remained in the lobby and asked the Grand Gateway
employee for information on the manager and the owner of the hotel. When the Grand

6
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Gateway employee refused to provide information on the owner of the hotel, Jessica
White left the hotel.

30.  Travelocity arranged for the White family to stay at a different hotel
nearby.

31.  Prior to being excluded from the hotel, the White family did not engage in
behavior that would warrant exclusion from the Grand Gateway.

32.  The behavior of the Grand Gateway employee toward Ryan White —who
is Native American —combined with the hotel employee’s racially-charged comment to
the Travelocity representative, the absence of any plausible basis to exclude the White
family from the hotel, and the Grand Gateway’s history of discrimination against
Native Americans all support the conclusion that the Grand Gateway refused to rent
rooms to the White family because of Ryan White’s race.

33.  After experiencing discrimination by the Grand Gateway, the White
family reported the discrimination to the Rapid City Community Relations
Commission.

34.  Asaresult of the Grand Gateway’s discrimination, the White family felt
and feels threatened, embarrassed, humiliated, disturbed, and shocked. They felt and
feel unwelcome at the Grand Gateway.

35.  Asaresult of the Grand Gateway’s discrimination, the White family was
prevented from completing any transactions at the Grand Gateway Hotel.

36.  The discrimination experienced by the White family was part of a pattern

of discrimination by the Grand Gateway.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

Count I: Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.
(By both plaintiffs)

37.  Ryan and Jessica White incorporate all previous paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

38.  Section 1981 provides that all persons within the jurisdiction of the United
States shall have “the same right . . . to make and enforce contracts . . . as is enjoyed by
white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. § 1981. This includes “the making performance, modification,
and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and
conditions of the contractual relationship.” Id. § 1981(b).

39.  Section 1981 is not limited to existing contractual relationships.

40.  Ryan White is a member of a protected class.

41.  Ryan White was engaged in an activity protected by 42 U.S.C. § 1981
when the White family attempted to make a contract for the purchase of hotel rooms at
the Grand Gateway Hotel. Alternatively, Ryan White was an intended third-party
beneficiary of a contract for the purchase of hotel rooms, which is a protected activity
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

42.  Jessica White was engaged in an activity protected by 42 U.S.C. § 1981
when the White family attempted to make a contract for the purchase of hotel rooms at
the Grand Gateway Hotel. Although Jessica White is not herself a member of a
protected class, she was prevented from purchasing hotel rooms at the Grand Gateway

solely because of her husband’s race.
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43.  Grand Gateway intentionally interfered with the formation of a contract
with the White family based solely on Mr. White’s membership in a protected class.

44.  Grand Gateway acted with discriminatory intent. Its actions toward the
White family were racially motivated and designed to intimidate and exclude them.
Through those actions, the Grand Gateway successfully interfered with and prevented
the White family from enjoying the right to enter into a contract with the Grand
Gateway Hotel and otherwise enjoy the benefits of the contract. As a result, the White
family was denied access to the Grand Gateway.

45.  Grand Gateway’s actions proximately and directly caused injury and
harm to the White family, including the denial of federally and constitutionally
protected rights, public embarrassment, pain and suffering, injury to dignity, anguish,
and personal degradation on the basis of race.

46.  The Grand Gateway created a hostile, discriminatory, and unwelcoming
environment for Native Americans.

47. As a result of its unlawful acts and practices, the Grand Gateway denied
the White family the use and enjoyment of the benefits, privileges, terms and conditions
that it extends to all other guests and invitees.

48. By discriminating against the White family on the basis of race, the Grand
Gateway denied the White family the same right to enjoy the benefits, privileges, terms,
and conditions of contract that are enjoyed by white citizens, in violation of the Civil

Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981.
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49.  Asaresult of the Grand Gateway’s unlawful conduct, Ryan and Jessica
White are entitled to compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

50. The Grand Gateway’s conduct was intentional, deliberate, reckless,
hurtful, wanton, discriminatory, done with malice and in reckless disregard of the
rights of the White family, providing a justification and need for punitive damages in
this case.

51.  The White family is entitled to recover attorneys’ fees and expert fees
under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 and 1988 (b) and (c).

Count II: Declaratory Relief, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.
(By both plaintiffs)

52.  Ryan and Jessica White incorporate all previous paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

53. A dispute currently exists with respect to the rights and obligations of the
White family, on one hand, and the Grand Gateway, on the other.

54.  The White family is entitled to a declaratory judgment finding that the

foregoing actions of the Grand Gateway violated 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

10
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

55.  Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

a. Declare that the Grand Gateway’s conduct was unlawful;

b. Award compensatory, general, and special damages in an amount

determined at trial;

c. Award punitive damages in an amount that will punish the Grand

Gateway’s conduct and discourage and deter the Grand Gateway and

others from engaging in similar discrimination in the future;

d. Award to Plaintiffs their costs, expenses, disbursements, and reasonable

attorneys’ fees in this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988;

e. Award pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and

f. Grant other and further relief, both general and specific, at law, or in

equity, as the Court finds is just and proper.

Dated: October 25, 2023

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Brendan V. Johnson

Brendan V. Johnson (SD Bar # 3263)
Timothy W. Billion (SD Bar # 4641)
Thad A. Titze (SD Bar # 5204)
ROBINS KAPLAN LLP

140 North Phillips Ave, Suite 307
Sioux Falls, SD 57104

Tel: 605-335-1300
BJohnson@RobinsKaplan.com
TBillion@RobinsKaplan.com
TTitze@RobinsKaplan.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS

11
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